1  
2  
3  
4 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**  
5

Electronically Filed  
Feb 17 2016 01:44 p.m.  
Tracie K. Lindeman  
Clerk of Supreme Court

6 EVANGELINA ORTEGA, AN INDIVIDUAL;  
7 AND MIRIAM PIZARRO-ORTEGA,  
8 AN INDIVIDUAL,

9 Appellants,

10 vs.

11 CHRISTIAN CERVANTES-LOPEZ, AN  
12 INDIVIDUAL; AND MARIA AVARCA, AN  
13 INDIVIDUAL,

14 Respondents.

CASE NO.: 68471

15  
16  
17 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

18 *Submitted by:*

19 CHARLES A. MICHALEK, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 5721

20 R. KADE BAIRD, ESQ.

Nevada Bar No. 8362

21 ROGERS, MASTRANGELO, CARVALHO & MITCHELL

300 South Fourth Street, Suite 710

22 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

23 Telephone: (702) 383-3400

**STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This appeal is from the decision by the jury, and the denial of Appellant's motion for a new trial, from the courtroom of DISTRICT COURT JUDGE MICHELLE LEAVITT, Department 12. Notice of Entry of the Judgment was entered on March 13, 2015. (8 A.A. 01551-01554) Defendant's motion for new trial, filed March 27, 2015 (8 A.A. 01555-01605), was denied on July 8, 2015. (9 A.A. 01809-01815). Defendants Notice of Appeal was filed July 24, 2015. (9 A.A. 01816-01844). Jurisdiction is therefore proper under NRAP 3(b)(1) and (2). No presumption of placement to the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals applies under NRAP 17.

**II.**

**ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial court improperly allow evidence of future damages when Plaintiff failed to comply with pre-trial discovery obligations and disclosure requirements under the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure.
2. Did the trial court improperly exclude Defense Expert Tami Rockholt as unqualified to serve in an expert capacity.
3. Were the repeated improper arguments of counsel during opening and closing statements grounds for a new trial.
4. Did the trial court improperly exclude surveillance video which was timely produced by Defendants.

**III.**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**A. Statement of Facts**

**1. Background facts**

This case arises out of a November 12, 2011 three-car MVA at the intersection of Lake Mead Blvd. and Statz Rd. Plaintiffs' vehicle, driven by Plaintiff Christian Cervantes-Lopez and containing front seat passenger Plaintiff Maria Avarca, was traveling in the #2 lane on westbound Lake Mead, approaching the Statz intersection. (1 A.A. 00001-00004). The Defendant's vehicle, driven by Defendant Miriam

1 Pizarro-Ortega and owned by Defendant Evangelina Ortega, was stopped in the  
2 center turn lane on eastbound Lake Mead, to make a left turn onto Statz.<sup>1</sup>

3 The impact occurred as the Defendant's vehicle was making the left turn,  
4 crossing the Plaintiffs' lane of travel. The front of Plaintiffs' vehicle collided with the  
5 right side of the Defendants vehicle. (1 A.A. 00001-00004).

6 Trial in this matter occurred between February 23, 2015 and March 4, 2015.  
7 The jury rendered a verdict for Plaintiffs. (8 A.A. 01549-01550).

8 **2. Facts Pertinent to Plaintiffs' claim of future damages.**

9 During the discovery period, Plaintiffs Christian Cervantes-Lopez and Maria  
10 Avarca alleged medical expenses of \$55,364.45 and \$42,496.47 respectively. (8 A.A.  
11 01570-01574). At no time prior to trial did either Plaintiff produce any calculation of  
12 their future damages claim as required by NRCP 16.1 (5 A.A. 00748-00749).

13 In addition to the required production under NRCP 16.1, Defendants explicitly  
14 requested that Plaintiffs produce a description of any future medical care by way of  
15 Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents. (8 A.A. 01578-01602).  
16 In each case, Plaintiffs failed to give any calculation or description of their supposed  
17 future damages. (8 A.A. 01587, 01600).

18 Defendant further deposed Plaintiffs treating physicians, including Dr. Stuart  
19 Kaplan, on June 6, 2014. (9 A.A. 01719-01721). Dr. Kaplan stated that Plaintiff was  
20 a **potential candidate** for future surgery if his pain complains increased, but no  
21 surgery was actually scheduled.

22 Q. So while you've identified Mr. Cervantes-Lopez as a candidate for a  
23 lumbar fusion, you don't have, like, a plan laid out for this to actually  
occur yet?

24 A. No. The way in which -- we're surgeons. I'm not here to follow him if  
25 he doesn't want surgery. The way in which I leave all of these patients,  
26 I say, "Listen, based on your information I have, you are a surgical  
candidate. Oh, but you're -- but you're telling me your pain is a three out

---

27 <sup>1</sup> Judgment was not entered against Evangelina Ortega. (8 A.A. 01549-  
28 01550).

1 of ten and you want to live with it. Then live with it. Come back and see  
2 me if it worsens or you have a problem." I leave it open-ended.

3 (9 A.A. 01720-01721). Furthermore, there was no written record of any projected  
4 costs for any future surgery (a costs letter) found in Dr. Kaplan's medical file:

5 Q. You haven't projected the cost for any of these treatments either;  
6 correct?

7 A. I don't know if I was asked to do a cost letter. I might have.

8 Q. Okay.

9 A. You would know. You would know. You would know.

10 Q. It wouldn't be in your file here?

11 A. No.

12 (9 A.A. 01719-01721). Dr. Kaplan did not provide an actual cost estimate for surgery  
13 until the middle of trial. (5 A.A. 00748-00749; 00936-00938).

14 Defendant moved to exclude any evidence of, or request for, future damages  
15 by Plaintiffs, based upon the failure to provide the required computation of damages  
16 and to comply with the discovery rules. The trial court denied the motion, instead  
17 placing the burden on Defense counsel to "ask the right question":

18 However, the Court's opinion is that the doctor was made available for  
19 deposition and the choice of what to ask or not to ask was within the  
20 attorney's discretion.

21 (9 A.A. 01854). As shown by the Order denying the Motion for New Trial, The trial  
22 court improperly placed the burden **upon Defendants** to obtain the cost for the future  
23 surgery instead of placing the burden on Plaintiffs to produce this information:

24 Defendant's argument regarding Plaintiffs' failure to provide computation of  
25 future damages prior to trial, was overruled at the time of trial and the Court  
26 finds that Defendant's arguments do not warrant granting a new trial.  
27 Defendant was aware of Plaintiffs' claim of future damages prior to trial during  
28 the discovery phase and Plaintiffs' made their doctor available for depositions.  
Defendant exercised her opportunity to depose Plaintiffs' doctor but for  
strategic purposes chose not to question the doctor's regarding the cost of  
future damages at that time. Since the treatment, including, the future lumbar  
surgery for Christian Cervantes was contained in the medical records produced  
in discovery and was discussed at Dr. Kaplan's deposition, Defendant's were  
well aware of the future treatment. That further, the Court finds no prejudice  
as this information was provided to Dr. Duke, who practices in the same  
specialty as Dr. Kaplan, rendered opinions about the future treatment and

1 surgery, as well as the costs of same.  
2 (9 A.A. 01812).

3 **3. Facts Pertinent to Trial Judge's evidentiary rulings.**

4 Defendant also objected to several of counsel's improper arguments which  
5 violated Nevada law. The trial court found that most of Plaintiffs arguments were not  
6 improper, and no new trial was warranted. (9 A.A. 01812-01814).

7 The trial court also excluded Tami Rockholt. (9 A.A. 01812-01814). The trial  
8 court found that Defendant was not prejudiced because Dr. Duke was able to testify  
9 as to Plaintiff's future damages. (9 A.A. 01812). The trial court's determination was  
10 error, because Dr. Duke was unable to rebut Plaintiff's charges for future surgery and  
11 medical care. (6 A.A.01079-01082).<sup>2</sup>

12 Finally, Defendant was precluded by the trial court from utilizing surveillance  
13 video that was timely produced by after a stipulation to continue discovery. (9 A.A.  
14 01813).

15 **IV.**

16 **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

17 The trial court improperly admitted evidence of Plaintiffs' future medical  
18 expenses and allowed them to request future damages in violation of the Nevada  
19 Rules of Civil Procedure. The trial court's decision was in error because Plaintiffs had  
20 the burden to produce evidence of any future medical care, including providing a  
21 estimate of its costs. NRCP 16.1 Merely providing medical records, or identifying  
22 Plaintiff as a "candidate" for surgery does not comply with NRCP 16.1 Defendant  
23 was unfairly prejudiced by allowing this evidence, as Defense experts could not  
24 contradict the claim for future damages at trial. This error was compounded because  
25 the trial court erred in excluding Defendant expert, Tami Rockholt from testifying.  
26

---

27 <sup>2</sup> Plaintiff counsel's own closing argument admitted that Dr. Duke could not  
28 dispute the future surgery costs. (8 A.A. 01398).

1 She was qualified to discuss Plaintiffs' inflated medical charges as unreasonable.

2 Other errors should be addressed upon re-trial. These include Plaintiff making  
3 multiple and repeated improper arguments in violation of *Lioce v. Cohen*, 124 Nev.  
4 1, 23, 174 P.3d 970, 984 (2008). Plaintiff repeatedly slandered Dr. Duke, a defense  
5 expert, referenced insurance, and told the jury to "send a message". The trial court  
6 further erred in precluding the use of the timely disclosed surveillance video.

7 **V.**

8 **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

9 **A. Interpretation of NRCP 16.1**

10 Nevada's Rules of Civil Procedure are subject to the same rules of  
11 interpretation as statutes. *Webb v. Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 125 Nev. 611, 618, 218 P.3d  
12 1239, 1244 (2009). Statutory interpretation is a question of law that is reviewed de  
13 novo. *Consipio Holding, BV v. Carlberg*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 43, 282 P.3d 751, 756  
14 (2012). If a statute is clear and unambiguous, the Court gives effect to the plain  
15 meaning of the words, without resort to the rules of construction. *Vanguard Piping*  
16 *v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 63, 309 P.3d 1017, 1020 (2013).

17 **B. Admission or Exclusion of Evidence**

18 A decision to admit or exclude evidence is within the discretion of the trial  
19 court and is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *FGA, Inc. v. Giglio*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op.  
20 26, 278 P.3d 490, 499 (2012). This court reviews a district court's decision to grant  
21 or deny a motion for a new trial for an abuse of discretion. *Gunderson v. D.R. Horton,*  
22 *Inc.*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 9, 319 P.3d 606, 611 (2014).

23 **C. Improper arguments at trial during opening or closing.**

24 "Whether an attorney's comments are misconduct is a question of law, which  
25 we review de novo; however, we will give deference to the district court's factual  
26 findings and application of the standards to the facts." *Gunderson v. D.R. Horton,*  
27 *Inc.*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 9, 319 P.3d 606, 611 (2014).

28 "Finally, if misconduct is persistent or repeated, the district court must take into

1 account 'that, by engaging in continued misconduct, the offending attorney has  
2 accepted the risk that the jury will be influenced by his misconduct.'" *Gunderson v.*  
3 *D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 9, 319 P.3d 606, 612 (2014), reh'g denied (Apr.  
4 23, 2014). "As a result, the district court must acknowledge that although specific  
5 instances of misconduct alone might have been curable by objection and  
6 admonishment, the effect of persistent or repeated misconduct might be incurable.  
7 *Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 9, 319 P.3d 606, 612 (2014),  
8 reh'g denied (Apr. 23, 2014).

## 9 10 VI.

### 11 ARGUMENT

#### 12 A. A NEW TRIAL WAS WARRANTED AS DEFENDANT WAS 13 UNFAIRLY PREJUDICED BY PLAINTIFF'S FAILURE TO PROVIDE 14 A TIMELY COMPUTATION OF FUTURE DAMAGES AS REQUIRED 15 BY NRCP 16 (A)(1)(C).

16 A new trial is clearly warranted in this case because Plaintiffs failed to comply  
17 with the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure in disclosing the necessity for, and cost of,  
18 future medical treatment for each Plaintiff. Admission of this evidence at trial unfairly  
19 prejudiced Defendants, and a new trial is warranted.

20 NRCP 16.1(a)(1)(c) clearly requires a Plaintiff to provide an actual  
21 computation of future damages. That section requires Plaintiffs to produce:

22 A computation of any category of damages claimed by the disclosing  
23 party, making available for inspection and copying as under Rule 34  
24 the documents or other evidentiary matter, not privileged or protected  
25 from disclosure, on which such computation is based, including  
26 materials bearing on the nature and extent of injuries suffered.

27 NRCP 26(e) further requires a party to supplement the disclosures made under  
28 NRCP 16.1(a):

(e) Supplementation of Disclosures and Responses. A party who has made a  
disclosure under Rule 16.1 or 16.2 or responded to a request for discovery  
with a disclosure or response is under a duty to supplement or correct the  
disclosure or response to include information thereafter acquired, if  
ordered by the court or in the following circumstances:

(1) A party is under a duty to supplement at appropriate intervals its

disclosures under Rule 16.1(a) or 16.2(a) if the party learns that in some material respect the information disclosed is incomplete or incorrect and if the additional or corrective information has not otherwise been made known to the other parties during the discovery process or in writing. With respect to testimony of an expert from whom a report is required under Rule 16.1(a)(2)(B) the duty extends both to information contained in the report and to information provided through a deposition of the expert, and any additions or other changes to this information shall be disclosed by the time the party's disclosures under Rule 16.1(a)(3) are due.

- (2) A party is under a duty seasonably to amend a prior response to an interrogatory, request for production or request for admission, if the party learns that the response is in some material respect incomplete or incorrect and if the additional or corrective information has not otherwise been made known to the other parties during the discovery process or in writing.

Plaintiffs did not prove a computation of damages for Plaintiffs alleged future medical treatment until the middle of trial, and only when ordered by the Court to do so (4 A.A. 00643-00646); (5 A.A. 00936-00938).

**1. Plaintiff did not provide any computation of future damages prior to trial.**

Although Plaintiffs continued to update their **past** medical bills throughout discovery, Plaintiffs never provided a computation of the damages they would be seeking for future medical care. The last NRCP 16.1 supplement provided by Plaintiffs during discovery did not include any costs for future care. (8 A.A. 01570-01574).

In addition to the computation being required under NRCP 16.1, Plaintiffs were required to provide this information in response to Defendant's interrogatories (9 A.A. 01578-01602). The first time that Plaintiff presented any actual computation of future damages was during the middle of trial, when the Court finally compelled the Plaintiffs to disclose the computation of damages just hours before Plaintiff's physicians testified as to the costs of future medical care.<sup>3</sup>

Plaintiffs argue that a "candidate" for future surgery constitutes "actual notice" of the future damages. It should be noted that Dr. Kaplan did **not** testify that Plaintiff

---

<sup>3</sup> The single "total" charge which was disclosed (5 A.A. 00748-00752) was not the same amount that was testified to by Plaintiff's doctors.

1 Christian Cervantes would be having surgery to a reasonable degree of medical  
2 probability. Christian was merely a potential candidate for surgery if his symptoms  
3 worsened. (9 A.A. 01720-01721). Also, Defendants asked if Plaintiff's physician wrote  
4 a cost letter, which was not found in the Dr.'s file. (9 A.A. 01720-01721). Likewise,  
5 no documentation of Plaintiff Avarca's future care was ever disclosed.

6 In any event, any such "notice" was insufficient as a matter of law. See *Calvert*  
7 *v. Ellis*, 2015 WL 631284, at \*4 (D. Nev. Feb. 12, 2015)<sup>4</sup>:

8 "[m]ere notice of an upcoming surgery ... cannot substitute for the disclosure that  
9 is required by Rule 26(a)." *Patton v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 2013 WL 6158461,  
at \*4 (D.Nev. Nov. 20, 2013).

10 The trial court did not require Plaintiffs to comply with the rule. Instead, the trial  
11 court held that the burden to discover such information **fell upon Defendants**:

12 Defendant was aware of Plaintiffs' claim of future damages prior to trial during  
13 the discovery phase and Plaintiffs' made their doctor available for depositions.  
14 Defendant exercised her opportunity to depose Plaintiffs' doctor but for strategic  
15 purposes chose not to question the doctor's regarding the cost of future damages  
at that time. Since the treatment, including, the future lumbar surgery for  
Christian Cervantes was contained in the medical records produced in discovery  
and was discussed at Dr. Kaplan's deposition, Defendant's were well aware of  
the future treatment.

16 (9 A.A. 01812). The trial court mis-interpreted NRS 16.1 and NRCP 26. These rules  
17 explicitly state that the burden to produce a computation **falls on the Plaintiffs**.

18 a. Plaintiffs were under an affirmative burden to produce the costs of  
19 future medical care they would seek to recover at trial.

20 Case law interpreting the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, upon which  
21 Nevada's rules are based, have already determined that a Plaintiff **must** provide an  
22 actual computation of the future damages the Plaintiff will seek to recover at trial. See  
23 *Jackson v. United Artists Theatre Circuit, Inc.*, 278 F.R.D. 586, 593 94 (D. Nev.

---

24  
25 <sup>4</sup> SCR 123 prohibits citation to unpublished orders and opinions issued by  
26 the Nevada Supreme Court. This ban does not extend to federal district court  
27 dispositions. *Schuck v. Signature Flight Support of Nevada, Inc.*, 126 Nev. 434,  
28 441, 245 P.3d 542, 547 (2010).



1 2011):

2 Plaintiffs, however, ignored their obligation under Rule 26(a)(1)(A)(iii). This  
3 rule requires a party to provide “a computation of each category of damages  
4 claimed by the disclosing party.” It also requires the disclosing party to “make  
5 available for inspection and copying as under Rule 34 the documents or other  
6 evidentiary material ... on which each computation is based, including materials  
7 bearing on the nature and extent of injuries suffered.” While a party may not  
8 have all of the information necessary to provide a computation of damages early  
9 in the case, it has a duty to diligently obtain the necessary information and  
10 prepare and provide its damages computation within the discovery period.

11 Federal cases interpreting the analogous federal rules are strong persuasive  
12 authority as to the meaning of Nevada’s Rules of Civil Procedure. *Executive Mgmt.*  
13 *Ltd. v. Ticor Title Ins. Co.*, 118 Nev. 46, 53, 38 P.3d 872, 876 (2002):

14 Federal cases interpreting the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure “are strong  
15 persuasive authority, because the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure are based in  
16 large part upon their federal counterparts.

17 See also *Sanders v. Sears-Page*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 50, 354 P.3d 201, 213 (Nev. App.  
18 2015):

19 We further note that NRCP 16.1 parallels Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 26,  
20 which was enacted to prevent ambush at trial.

21 NRCP 16.1 says that a party **must** provide such information without a discovery  
22 request. Thus, compliance with the rule is mandatory. See *Vanguard Piping v. Eighth*  
23 *Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 63, 309 P.3d 1017, 1020 (2013):

24 The use of the word “must” means that the rule’s requirements are mandatory.  
25 See *Washoe Cnty. v. Otto*, 128 Nev. Adv. Op. 40, 282 P.3d 719, 725 (2012).

26 The rule requires more than merely identifying to Defendants that the Plaintiffs  
27 will seek future medical expenses. The rule requires that an actual computation be  
28 provided. See *Clasberry v. Albertson’s LLC* 2015 WL 9093692, at \*2 (D. Nev. Dec.  
16, 2015):

29 The computation of each category of damages requires more than the listing of  
30 the broad types of damages so as to enable the defendants to understand the  
31 contours of their potential exposure and make informed decisions regarding  
32 settlement and discovery.

33 The record is clear that Plaintiffs never provided any calculation of surgical costs  
34 or for any future medical expenses for either Plaintiff until after trial began. (5 A.A.

1 00748-00752). Thus, Plaintiffs did not comply with the disclosure requirements of  
2 NRCP 16.1.

3  
4 b. Plaintiffs cannot shift to Defendant the burden of attempting to  
determine the amount of Plaintiffs future damages.

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