IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

EVANGELINA ORTEGA, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND MIRIAM PIZARRO-ORTEGA, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Appellants,

VS.

CHRISTIAN CERVANTES-LOPEZ, AN INDIVIDUAL; AND MARIA AVARCA, AN INDIVIDUAL,

Respondents.

SUPREME COURT NO. 68471

Electronically Filed Apr 19 2016 01:11 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

DANIEL S. SIMON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 4750
SIMON LAW
810 s. Casino Center Blvd.
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702)364-1650
Facsimile (702)364-1655
Attorney for Respondents

Docket 68471 Document 2016-12212

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

- Q. Okay. In these two documents, is the information that is contained on those information you have viewed and reviewed before?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Does that refresh your recollection as to what you believe the reasonable

medical bills for Maria Abarca are?

- A. Yes.
- Q. And what is that number?
- A. And -- and again, just so you're clear, I'm not saying that -- that this amount is related to the accident. It's just if one were to bill properly the procedures that were performed, the amount would be 24,107. But I'm not relating that to the car accident.
- Q. Very good. And same question with respect to Christian Cervantes?
- A. And with the same, you know, caveat, it would be 36,214.
- Q. What was the number again?
- A. \$36,214.38. And that was if one properly billed for all the services that were provided.

(6A.A.01068-01069)

Regardless of excluding Rockholt, Dr. Duke admitted her opinions and her version of the reasonableness of the medical bills, so there is no prejudice to the Defense as, Defendant was able to and in fact did contest the medical bills through the testimony of Dr. Duke, a neurosurgeon, who was much more qualifed to render such opinons. Thus, Defendant was able to present all of Rockholt's intended testimony and has suffered no prejudice.

C. <u>Plaintiffs' Counsel's Arguments Were Proper And Do Not Violate</u> Lioce

Defendant's arguments constitute her (i.e., the insurance company's and defense counsel's) own self-serving interpretation in a conclusory fashion when she summarily states that "Plaintiffs' counsel's opening and closing arguments violated *Lioce v. Cohen*, 124 Nev. 1, 23, 174 P.3d 970, 984 (2008)," and then cite to four

alleged violations, which are in fact not violations. (O.B. 23:2-5) The theme of the Defendant's post trial briefing is to cast aspersions against Plaintiffs' counsel and misrepresent the actual record when giving her self serving conclusions. Each and every one of the alleged *Lioce* violations that Defendant cites were proper arguments to present to the jury during opening and closing statements. The Trial Court properly addressed each instance at the time of the objection, ruled and, in an abundance of caution, ultimately admonished the jury if the objection was sustained. Nevada law provides that counsel is permitted to explain to the jury what the evidence in the case will show in their opening statement and counsel is given wide latitude during their closing argument to make reasonable inferences from the evidence, so long as the evidence was presented during the course of the trial.

1. <u>Disparagement of Duke</u>

Defendant claims that Plaintiffs' counsel made references to Dr. Duke being "for sale" and an "expert who will say anything once paid" in opening statements and that the court allowed "Plaintiffs' line of attack, ruling it was argument" in closing and, thus, somehow this is "Disparagement of Dr. Duke." (O.B. 23:5-22) Similar to their trial tactics and post trial briefing, the defense is putting their own words in place and stead of the actual transcript and what was actually said.

In Opening, Plaintiffs' counsel simply stated that the evidence would show that

Dr. Duke's services were "for sale." (4A.A. 00465-00466) However, the Court agreed that is what the evidence will likely show, but that it had an element of argument and not proper for opening. (4A.A. 00467-00468) Then on February 27, 2015, Dr. Duke testified that his services were for sale because he was hired by the defense and he is expected to perform a service in exchange for payment. (6A.A. 01112-01113) This is testimony in the record that was exactly what Dr. Duke stated at trial. Dr. Duke admitted on the stand that his services in this case were "for sale." However, Plaintiffs' counsel's reference to such in opening statement, which was sustained, was not a violation of *Lioce* because that is exactly what the evidence was going to show, and in fact, did show. Moreover, a very similar statement was made in closing argument and the Court overruled the objection because the evidence was presented during the trial; it was proper argument based on the evidence in the case and a not a violation of *Lioce*. (8A.A. 01392)

In footnote 11, Defendant attempts to argue that the line of dollar signs in Plaintiffs' Opening Statement was used to emphasize the point that Dr. Duke was "for sale." (O.B. 23:27-28) The dollar signs were not used for that purpose, but were instead used to explain that Dr. Duke charges a lot of money for his services. Although this is not improper of anything, the Court sustained Mr. Baird's objection and told Mr. Simon to move on, which Mr. Simon did. There is no evidence that the

dollar signs that were on the screen for less than three seconds would have changed the outcome of this case. During trial, the evidence did show that Dr. Duke charges a substantial amount for his services and using dollar signs in an opening is not a violation of anything. All parties are free to discuss that experts charge substantial sums to testify and perform work, which is proper impeachment testimony and argument as the jury instructions make clear that the jury is to evaluate the motives of any witness on the stand. This is why the Defense did the same thing during trial. In fact, the defense compared Dr. Duke's fees to Dr. Kaplan's fees and argued his motive for bias based on a \$35,000 surgical fee plus his deposition fee of \$1,500. (6A.A.01169-01174)

At no point in time during this trial, did Plaintiffs' counsel disparage any witness, including Dr. Duke. As such, Plaintiffs' counsel's remarks were not improper and clearly did not violate *Lioce*.

2. Plaintiffs' Counsel Did Not Improperly Attempt to Influence the Jury

It is elementary to any trial lawyer that you cannot ask the jury to put themselves in the position of one of the parties, and such arguments are improper pursuant to Nevada law. Defendant asserts that Plaintiffs' counsel violated the golden rule by asking the jury to make a statement and to possibly put itself in the

news by its verdict. (O.B. 10-11) This is not true and just another example of the Defendant asserting a proposition not supported by the record. The Plaintiffs did not ask the jury to place themselves in the position of the Plaintiffs as alleged.

Defendant cites Plaintiffs' counsel's statements to the jury during opening that their verdict will "affect the community," and during closing Plaintiffs' counsel made arguments "requesting that the jury make a statement with their verdict" as violation of Nevada law. Defendant *incorrectly* claims that Plaintiffs' counsel's argument in closing was requesting the jury to make a statement with their verdict. However, a review of the pages of the transcript defense counsel cites does not ever state that the jury make a statement with their verdict to the community or that they should send a message to the community. In Lioce, the Supreme Court found that Mr. Emerson's statements were improper because he was suggesting to the jurors that regardless of the evidence, if the jury found in favor of the defense, the jury could remedy the social ills of frivolous lawsuits. Here, Plaintiffs' counsel's arguments never once told the jury or even remotely suggested to the jury to ignore the evidence and send a message to the community with their verdict. (8A.A.001425-001427) Moreover, Defendant objected, the Trial Court sustained the objection and Plaintiffs' counsel concluded closing arguments. (8A.A.001425-001427) Notably, this Court has approved the send the message arguments if it is based on the evidence in the very

case to the very defendant, which is exactly what was done in this case. Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 319 P.3d 606, 613-614 (Nev. 2014). Plaintiffs tailored their arguments to this specific Defendant and never suggested to send a message to the community at large in closing arguments. Neverthless, Defendant continually misrepresents the record to make her arguments. Upon review of the transcripts, it is clear that the Defendant's self-serving interpretation is not what was said or what actually occurred and/or does not support her arguments.

Defendant's argument leaps to unfounded conclusions and are simply not violations. Defendant has failed to identify any facts, argument or analysis that would lead the Court to conclude the outcome would have been any different and does not warrant a new trial. In an abudance of caution, the Trial Court did sustain an objection and admonished the jury to disregard. Even though Plaintiffs assert that the objections should not have been sustained, the Trial Court admonished the jury to disregard the prior statement. (3A.A.00470-00471) The defense has failed to demonstrate that the alleged misconduct's harmful effect was not removed through the Trial Court's sustained objection and admonishment.

3. <u>Plaintiffs' Counsel Did Not Improperly Reference Insurance</u>

Defendant argues that Plaintiffs' counsel improperly referenced insurance several times during the course of the trial and also "injected the idea" of insurance

23

24

25

26

27

28

during the cross-examination of Dr. Duke. (O.B. 26:14-19) Interestingly, the only portion of the trial transcript that Defendant can point this Court to is during the cross-exmaination of Dr. Duke when Plaintiffs' counsel asked him who he was hired by to conduct the IME. Specifically, Dr. Duke testified:

- All right. And you're a little bit different than a treating physician Q. in your role here today?
- Correct.
- Right? You are an IME physcian, right, hired by the defense, Q.
- I'm -- I'm technically hired I think by who-- whoever the other Α. party is being sued in the accident. They -- the're the ones who who I -- who has representation who's hired me on their behalf.
- Okay. So the firm, Rogers Mastroangelo, did not hire you; it was Ms. Ortega back in the court? Q.
- I think it was via the firm, correct. A. Q. A.
- Okay. Has she paid you any money? Well, it -- I think she's paid her insurance and to the extent that that is what she used to --

(6 A.A.01098)

The testimony is clear. Plaintiffs' counsel did not elicit Dr. Duke's reference to insurance during his testimony. Plaintiffs' counsel simply asked Dr. Duke if he was different than a treating physician in this case. Dr. Duke has testfied in thousands of cases over the last decade and knows that he is not permitted to comment on insurance. Dr. Duke knows that he was hired by the Defendant and that the Defendant herself is not going to pay him. All he had to say is "No." Dr. Duke knows exactly who was paying for his services and clearly tried to be evasive when responding to Plaintiffs' counsel's question.

It was Defendant's counsel and Defendant's expert, Dr. Duke, that referenced the term "insurance" several times throughout trial and, in fact, an admonishment, Jury Instruction No. 7, was read to the jury. (8A.A.01509) The only times in which Plaintiffs' counsel referenced the term "insurance" was during voir dire and he only quoted from the jury instruction given in this case. The jurors were advised that they will not be able to consider whether any party is carrying insurance and nothing more. (2A.A.274-281) Plaintiffs' counsel never elicited a response inviting insurance, and Defendant's desperate attempt to blame counsel should not be considered, especially when the Defense equally had inadvertent insurance answers. This is why it was agreed by the Defense and the Plaintiffs that the curative instruction would be read to the jury. In speaking with the jury after the verdict, they acknowledged that they did not consider insurance so there can be no demonstrated prejudice to warrant a new trial. Plaintiffs' counsel did not impermissibly reference insurance in this matter as set forth above, and this argument is certainly not grounds to warrant a new trial.

4. Plaintiffs' Counsel Did Not Disparage Defendant's Case

Defendant claims that Plaintiffs' counsel argued that the Defendant was "avoiding responsibility," and this amounts to Disparagement of the Defense case.

(O.B. 28:14-15) However, not once did Plaintiffs' counsel utter the words that the Defendant was "avoiding responsibility." The authority in which Defendant relies,

Fasani v. Kowalski, 43 So. 3d.805, 809 (Fla.Dist.Ct.App.2005), has no application to the instant matter. In Fasani, a plaintiff was injured by an elevator. During trial, plaintiff's attorney continuously told the jury that the defense was only motivated by "corporate greed" and statements like "they wanted a pretty elevator and they didn't care who got hurt or how bad it was. And when someone got hurt, they said, you know what, yeah, we made a mistake but we're not giving you anything." Id. However, the Appellate Court held that these comments were improper and served no other purpose than to inflame and prejudice the jury, because there was never any evidence of corporate greed introduced in the case. Unlike Fasani, in the instant case, the evidence clearly shows that Defendant filed an Answer denying liability and then, without leave of the Court, filed an Amended Answer accepting liability. (1A.A.0005-00015) Defendant objected to Plaintiffs' counsel's recitation of the pleadings and the Court properly overruled the objection because the evidence of the case (i.e. the pleadings) actually showed that Defendant denied liability and then accepted liability. (3A.A.00442-00448) Plaintiffs' counsel never once made any improper argument "disparaging the defense case," and Fasani and the other cases relied upon by defense have no application to this case.

It is disingenuous for the defense to accuse Plaintiffs' counsel for disparagement of their case, as Plaintiffs' counsel's argument were proper. Once again, Defendant's interpretation of the record was not what was actually said.

D. <u>Defendant Was Properly Precluded From Presenting Evidence Of Liens</u>

The Trial Court properly precluded evidence that Plaintiffs' medical treatment was on a lien. (1A.A.00056-000057) Defendant would like this Court to simply ignore Nevada precedent and apply California law because it is more favorable to them. Plaintiffs address this more fully above in Section III.B.3 in regards to Nurse Rockholt's testimony and incorporate such arguements hereto. Liens are merely a form of payment in place for someone who does not have insurance. As Defendant has complained about using the term "insurance," any referense to a lien invites testimony about insurance or the lack thereof and the purpose of this payment source.

E. The Sub Rosa Surveillance Video Was Properly Excluded.

Defendant summarily argues that she "timely produced a copy of the video surveillance" pursuant to a stipulation to extend the discovery plan to January 9, 2015. (O.B. 29:20-21) The stipulation that Defendant is referring to, was not an extension to extend *all* discovery in this matter. (8 A.A. 01603-01605) Instead, as was argued right before trial started, the stipulation and order that Defendant is relying on was intended only to supplement <u>new</u> evidence 30 days prior to trial, as

required by NRCP 16.1. It was not until January 29, 2015, just days before this trial was to begin, that Defendant chose to disclose the surveillance video taken from December 14, 2013 - January 23, 2014, over a year prior to its disclosure. (1A.A.00109-00115) This is a video manufactured by the Defendant without the knowledge of the Plaintiffs and where the Plaintiffs had no ability to get on their own. This video was solely in the possession of the Defense for over a year prior to its disclosure while discovery was still open. (1R.A.00244-00248). Defendant never provided an aduquate reason as to its concealment for this length of time. This is quite different than evidence that was created by an independent third party and available to both parties during discovery. Defendant cannot hold on to evidence for over a year and then disclose on the eve of trial long after the discovery cut-off and argue that she was somehow prejudiced by the Trial Court's exclusion of this untimely evidence on the eve of trial.

The Trial Court properly excluded this untimely surreptitious evidence, and, simply because Defendant chose to disregard the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure and attempt to ambush Plaintiffs on the eve of trial, does not prejudice Defendant at all and certainly does not warrant a new trial.

28

F. <u>Dr. Duke Was Properly Precluded From Offering Testimony Regarding</u> Secondary Gain.

It is well-known in the Las Vegas legal community that Dr. Duke believes and

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